# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Case No.82894

SUSAN HOPKINS Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 07 2021 01:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. dba CCMSI; and WASHOE COUNTY, Respondents.

Appeal from a District Court Order of Affirmance Denying Petition for Judicial Review Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County Dept. No. 15

Case No. CV20-01650

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NEVADA ATTORNEY FOR INJURED WORKERS
Evan Beavers, Esq.
Nevada State Bar No. 3399
ebeavers@naiw.nv.gov

Clark G. Leslie, Esq., Senior Deputy
Nevada State Bar No. 10124
cleslie@naiw.nv.gov

1000 East William Street, Suite 208

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A.

## Basis for Jurisdiction

This appeal is brought before this court pursuant to NRAP

3A(a) because the Appellant, Susan Hopkins, is aggrieved by a

final order issued by the district court that denied review of a

Department of Administration appeals officer's Decision and

Order.

B.

## Relevant Filing Dates

A final decision issued by the appeals office in the matter now being appealed was filed September 25, 2020. Ms. Hopkins filed a Petition for Judicial Review on October 16, 2020. A Notice of Appeal was filed by Ms. Hopkins on May 6, 2021.

C.

## Final Order

The district court issued its Decision and Order on April 22, 2021. This Decision and Order was a final judgment and this

Decision disposed of all issues brought before the district court in the underlying workers' compensation claim.

II.

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is not presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court in accordance with NRAP 17. However, the issue raised by this appeal is a question of first impression and raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance. NRAP 17(d). Specifically, there is a need for the court to decide the extent to which a worker can expect to be within the ambit of the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act (NIIA) (workers' compensation) where:

- (1) The employee was paid for the time her employer was contractually obligated to provide two 20-minute break times;
- (2) A defective sidewalk outside of the workplace that was under the control of the employer was being used by Appellant during one such break time that caused a serious injury;
- (3) Had an injury occurred to Appellant when she was on her break time and had happened on her employer's premises during her

break time (taking a quiet break or "power nap" at her desk, her defective chair collapses and she injures her spine) she would have had a compensable claim (see e.g. Dixon v. SIIS, 111 Nev. 994, 899 P.2d 571 (1995))' and

(4) This claim has aspects akin to the 'going and coming rule,' the 'parking lot rule,' 'personal comfort rule,' and, the 'traveling employee rule' where, if the facts exist, there is liability under the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act (NIIA).

However, this appeal is not precisely within any of these 'rules'; as such, an entire category of Nevada workers seek clarity as to whether they will or will not be covered for an injury if they engage in activities off-premises, on a sidewalk under the control of the employer, where the activity (walking) is known and encouraged by the employer, while on a paid break.

benefits for a worker injured on a lunch break while exercising on a bicycle. In *Dixon* the injury was argued to be an "athletic event" that was not compensable pursuant to former NRS 616.110(1). Here, the walk engaged in by Ms. Hopkins was denoted to be a "recreational" activity by the appeals officer. AA 85. Both denominations are incorrect. In *Dixon*, the appeals officer concluded, with the agreement of the Supreme Court, that riding the bicycle was a regular incident of employment as it was an "expected custom and practice at this remote location and was even encouraged by the laboratory." The parallels to Ms. Hopkins' injury while on her break and *Dixon* are patent. *See infra*.

Multiple concepts of Nevada's workers' compensation law favors liability for Ms. Hopkins' injury but, without a judicial determination, the question will remain an open one that fosters great uncertainty among Nevada citizens, employers, insurers and the courts.

#### III.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue in this claim is whether an employee who is injured while engaged in her contractually-guaranteed and compensated "break time" during working hours can receive workers' compensation benefits if the injury occurs off the premises of the employer but at a place that the employer had control over, and, a place the employer encouraged its employees to utilize during their break time walk?

This issue can be re-framed to ask the question: was the Appellant's injury that occurred during a wage-compensated break time one that 'arose in the course of employment' where the injury occurred off the physical premises of the employer but on a defective sidewalk within the control of the employer, while

the employee was engaged in an activity known to the employer, and, where the employer affirmatively acted to influence its employees, including Ms. Hopkins, as to where and how to engage in their break time?

IV.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A final Decision and Order was filed by the appeals officer on September 25, 2020. AA 85. Appellant sought district court review of the decision pursuant to NRS 233B.130 on October 20, 2020. AA 93. The district court issued its opinion affirming the appeals officer on April 6, 2021. AA 280 and 301 (dated April 22, 2021). Petitioner sought appellate review from the decision of the district court May 6, 2021. AA 335. Following an assessment for settlement, the parties were directed to proceed with this appeal.

v.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Susan Hopkins, a state employee, was contractually granted two fifteen-minute breaks each work day. AA. 131. She was

injured while engaged in her morning break on September 23, 2019. AA 38. The sidewalk upon which Ms. Hopkins walked upon during her break was under the control of the employer. AA 41.2 Ms. Hopkins' employer was not only aware that its employees engaged in walks during these break times but even issued warnings to its employees as to places to be avoided due to construction. AA 81.

More specifically, Ms. Hopkins was employed by Washoe County Health District (Washoe). Ms. Hopkins was injured when she tripped and fell on the sidewalk approximately 75 feet from the entrance to the building where Ms. Hopkins worked. The fall resulted in a serious fracture to Ms. Hopkins' right great toe and left hip strain. AA 135. The injury required surgery and a period of convalescence. AA 137. Following the injury, Washoe requested a work order to repair the sidewalk where Ms. Hopkins was injured. AA 41.

Washoe knew about, but did not prevent, its employees from leaving the work premises to engage in a break time activity. AA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AA 41 indicates that the employer filed a "Supervisor's Report of Injury" on or about September 24, 2019 wherein the employer's Risk Management department noted that it needed to "Place[] a work order to repair sidewalk."

81. Ms. Hopkins' union secured the break time for her and her coworkers. AA 131. This accommodation was not limited to any particular type of activity utilizing the break time twice each work day. AA 131-132.

Washoe became affirmatively involved with its employees' break time when it expressly warned its employees to avoid the Reno-Sparks Livestock Events Center (RSLEC) that was undergoing construction. The RSLEC was an area that Ms. Hopkins' and her coworkers used for walking during their break time. The RSLEC was near Ms. Hopkins' work site and was known to the employer to be used by its employees. AA 81-82.

Washoe was directly involved with its employees' break time. Washoe sent an e-mail to its employees, including Ms. Hopkins, the day before Ms. Hopkins was injured. AA 81. This e-mail was a warning as to where its employees should walk and avoid walking.

The e-mail expressly warned about dangers posed by on-going construction at RSLEC. This e-mail outlined, in red ink, the areas to be avoided by employees who were walkers engaged in

their break time. This e-mail also mapped an area in green ink that Washoe deemed safe for walking. AA 82.3

Washoe argued below that it had no requirement for its employees to engage in walks during their break time. Conversely, Washoe did not discourage walking during these breaks nor did it forbid employees from leaving the work premises during these paid rest periods. Ms. Hopkins testified that the diagram does not indicate the spot where she fell. AA 133.

VI.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Workers who enjoy break times that are part of their compensation have no assurance that if they are injured during their work-related break time that they fall under the penumbra of the NIIA. If Ms. Hopkins had remained on Washoe's premises during her break and had been injured when a defective chair

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The copy of the exhibit that is part of the record does not show the red or green colors that were mapped by Ms. Hopkins' employer. However, the colors were not an issue at the hearing as all parties and the appeals officer had copies that showed the colors of red and green to indicate areas that should be avoided and those that should be used for walking during a work break. The district court also did not state that any problem arose from the black-and-white nature of the exhibits.

collapsed or she slipped or tripped on a defective floor then there would be no question that her injury was work related.

In the case presented to the appeals officer, the outside of the building where she worked and fell on a defective sidewalk under the control of the employer. The appeals officer has determined in his Decision and Order that such an injury did not 'arise out of' Ms. Hopkins' employment. This ruling is contrary to statutory and case law favoring employer liability.

The anomalous result of the appeals officer's analysis could be used to deny benefits to other injured workers similarly situated to Ms. Hopkins. The denial of liability under the facts giving rise to Ms. Hopkins' workers' compensation claim requires an appellate ruling to remove the uncertainty faced by many Nevada employees daily.

The rights to workers' compensation benefits are unclear for an entire class of Nevada employees. Granting employees break time is common, but it is uncertain whether taking a break from work beyond the premises of their employer is an activity that

will preclude workers' compensation coverage for resulting injuries.

The 'going and coming' rule' consists of many exceptions to the general rule that workers' compensation benefits are not awarded to employees coming to or going from their place of employment. Exceptions abound and serve to further define the rule much like the hearsay rule that is defined by its exceptions nearly as much as the rule itself.

Under the going and coming rule, for example, when an employee is engaged in a 'special errand' for an employer either before or after work is completed, and an injury arises, the injury is compensable under Nevada law unless the employee materially deviates from the course taken to accomplish the 'special errand.' See e.g. Bob Allyn Masonry v. Murphy, 124 Nev. 279, 282, 183 P.3d 126 (2008).

Another exception to the going and coming rule is the 'parking lot' rule where, although the employee is not on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The 'going and coming rule' provides no NIIA coverage for injuries sustained by employees that occur during travel to or from work. Cannon Cochran Mgmt. Servs. v. Figueroa, 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 51, 468 P.3d 827, 829 (2020). The rule is somewhat defined by its exceptions. See infra.

physical premises of the employer, he or she is injured in the employer's parking lot while in the course of coming to or leaving work then the injury is deemed to have arisen out of the employment although not within the structural premises of the employer. See MGM Mirage v. Cotton, 121 Nev. 396, 400, 116 P.3d 56 (2005).

Another departure from the going and coming rule arises with traveling employees who are injured while traveling away from the employer's primary place of business. These traveling employee claims arise and are analyzed under a doctrine known as the 'personal comfort' rule.

In Buma v. Providence Corp. Dev., 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 60, 453 P.3d 904 (2019) the court recently remanded the appeal with instructions for the appeals officer to take evidence on whether the personal errand exception to the traveling employee rule should apply where a traveling employee was killed.

The decision in *Buma* also discussed the personal comfort rule and how, under certain circumstances, an injury can 'arise out of' the employment while an employee is seeing to his or her

personal comfort (drinking water, getting fresh air, etc.) while traveling away from the employer's place of business. *Buma*, 453 P.3d, at 909.

The point is this: work activities can 'arise out of' the employment relationship whether on the work premises or outside of the work place. Like the 'parking lot' and 'traveling employee' exception, the injury to Ms. Hopkins did not occur on the work premises. And, akin to 'traveling employees' and 'parking lot' injuries, the injury can be compensable even if away from the work site and while engaged in a personal comfort activity when receiving compensation during the off-worksite activity.

And just as in 'personal comfort' cases, Ms. Hopkins was engaged in an activity that fostered her physical comfort in a manner where the activity was an integral part of her employment agreement with her employer. The act of walking during Ms.

Hopkins' break from work was not "recreational" (see Decision and Order, AA 90) as it was part of her work contract and employment

environment. What was Ms. Hopkins to do during her break if not, from time to time, take a walk in the area of her work place?

This appeal asks this court to offer guidance and some modicum of certainty for the thousands of Nevada employees who enjoy compensated break times and who are injured on break. Not all break times are mandated by contract. For example, all state classified employees are required to take two breaks each day without a contract.

It is Ms. Hopkins's position that her conduct at the time she was injured 'arose out of' her employment because she was engaged in a sanctioned work activity at the time of her injury and was injured due to a defective sidewalk under the control of her employer.

As matters now stand, a Nevada employee who is injured under similar circumstances will be unsure as to whether the injury will be compensated. This uncertainty is unsettling for every employee who receive break time.

This lack of certainty means that employees do not know to what extent should they curb, curtail or avoid activities during

a paid break time outside the work premises. These employees who are provided paid break times do not know what will happen to a workers' compensation claim if they sustain an injury beyond the parameter of their actual work place. In deciding this appeal the court can answer these questions and provide a quantum of certainty to these employees.

VII.

## **ARGUMENT**

A.

#### Standard of Review

On issues of law it is appropriate for the reviewing court to make an independent judgment, rather than a more deferential standard of review. Maxwell v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 109 Nev. 327, 849 P.2d 267 (1993). A "pure legal question" is a question that is not dependent upon, and must necessarily be resolved without reference to any fact in the case before the court. An example of a pure legal question might be a challenge to the facial validity of a statute. Beavers v. Department of Motor

. . .

Vehicles and Pub. Safety, 109 Nev. 435, 438 n.1, 851 P.2d 432 (1993).

The appeals officer's decision on the facts may be reversed if it is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. Ranieri v.

Catholic Community Servs., 111 Nev. 1057, 901 P.2d 158 (1995).

A reviewing court may undertake an independent review of the administrative construction of a statute. State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Campbell, 109 Nev. 997, 999, 862 P.2d 1184 (1993). In this instance, the question of whether NRS 616C.150 was misinterpreted by the appeals officer is reviewable on appeal when it was determined in the Decision and Order that the activity engaged in by Ms. Hopkins when she was injured was "recreational" and, therefore, the injury was not one that "arose out of" her employment. AA 90.

Within the context of this appeal, the issue of NIIA liability arising from the injury suffered by Ms. Hopkins is a mixed question of fact and law that this court may consider and

offer guidance for future injured workers. See NRS 233B.135(a),(d),(e) and (f).

This statute and its sub-parts allow for appellate review where the substantial rights of the claimant have been prejudiced because the final decision is in violation of statutory provisions (NRS 233B.135(a)), affected by other error of law (NRS 233B.135(d)), clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record (NRS 233B.135(e)), or arbitrary, capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion (NRS 233B.135(f). See e.g. Langman v. Nevada Adm'rs, 114 Nev. 203, 955 P.2d 188 (1998).

The court has consistently held that when the court reviews an administrative agency's decision, the purpose of the appellate review is to determine whether in light of the evidence presented the agency acted arbitrarily and capriciously, thereby abusing its discretion. Rio All Suite Hotel & Casino v. Phillips, 126

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In Langman the court held that the Supreme Court's role in reviewing an administrative decision is to review the evidence presented to the agency in order to determine whether the agency's decision was arbitrary or capricious and was thus an abuse of the agency's discretion; however, where the construction of a statute is at issue, independent review is necessary.

Nev. 346, 349, 240 P.3d 2, 4 (2010).

In this appeal, the determination of Ms. Hopkins' activity at the time she was injured as being "recreational" was prejudicial error. This determination was not supported by substantial, or any, evidence. The activity undertaken by Ms. Hopkins - to walk near to her place of employment during her paid break - could not be deemed "recreational" because it arose out of the employment contract and was a necessary part of Ms. Hopkins' work day.

The employer did not forbid its employees from leaving its premises when engaged in their work breaks; the employer did not offer a place within its premises where employees could exercise or walk during break times; the employer expressly advised its employees to avoid the RSLEC area when walking during a break; it failed to maintain a sidewalk within its control, and, it encouraged or funneled employees to the area where Ms. Hopkins was injured. AA 41, AA 81, and AA 82.

. . .

. . .

Various "rules" have found liability for work injuries away from the workplace because the conduct leading to an injury nonetheless 'arises from' the employment

(1).

The 'going and coming rule' serves an exception to the general principle that an injury experienced while going to or coming from work is not compensable

This appeal's starting point is the requirement that an injury arise out of and in the course of the employment. "An injury arises out of the employment 'when there is a causal connection between the employee's injury and the nature of the work or workplace.'" Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 733, 121 P.3d 1026, 1032 (2005); see also Baiguen v. Harrah's Las Vegas, LLC, 134 Nev. 597, 599, 426 P.3d 586, 590 (2018).

The going and coming rule is discussed in MGM Mirage v.

Cotton, 121 Nev. 396, 399, 116 P.3d 56, 58 (2005) wherein the

Court explained that the going and coming rule provides that:

"injuries sustained by employees while going to or returning from their regular place of work are not deemed to arise out of and in

the course of their employment, unless the injuries fall under an exception to the rule."

The court has stated that, "[t]his rule frees employers from liability for the dangers employees encounter in daily life" when they are beyond the reach of their employers' control. *Cotton*, 121 Nev. 396, 399-400, 116 P.3d 56, 58 (2005).6

The exceptions to the going and coming rule abound. In Bob Allyn Masonry v. Murphy, 124 Nev. 279, 282, 183 P.3d 126, 128 (2008) the matter involved facts closely aligned to Ms. Hopkins' appeal. In Murphy the court held: "[w]hen an employee is required to use the streets and highways to carry out his employment obligations, the risks of those streets and highways are thereby converted to risks of employment." 124 Nev. at 286, 183 P.3d at 130.

In Murphy the employee was injured on his day off but, at his employer's request, he was delivering equipment from his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In Buma, supra, 453 P.3d at 907-908, the court stated that "This general rule [going and coming rule that normally precludes liability], however, does not apply to 'traveling' employees—those 'whose work entails travel away from the' workplace by definition." See infra for 'traveling employee' analysis.

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