IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No.: 82894

SUSAN HOPKINS,

Appellant,

v.

CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., d/b/a CCMSI; AND WASHOE COUNTY,

Respondents.

Appeal From Order Denying Petition For Judicial Review Second Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: CV20-01650

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

McDONALD CARANO LLP Lucas Foletta (NSBN 12154) Lisa Wiltshire Alstead (NSBN 10470) Jane Susskind (NSBN 15099) 100 W. Liberty St., 10th Floor Reno, Nevada 89501 Tel: (775) 788-2000 lalstead@mcdonaldcarano.com lfoletta@mcdonaldcarano.com

Attorneys for Respondents Cannon Cochran Management Services, Inc. and Washoe County

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

Rather, the appeals officer properly found that the County did not create an employment risk by permitting Hopkins to walk around an office complex in an area that was open to the public. (II AA at 303.) At the time of her injury, the appeals officer concluded Hopkins was walking for her own recreation and enjoyment outside of her workplace. (*Id.*)

Hopkins argues it was "prejudicial error" for the appeals officer to classify this activity as "recreational" because her break period was mandated by her employment contract and was a necessary part of her workday. (See AOB at 17.) This argument is plainly a stretch in light of the substantial evidence supporting the appeals officer's conclusion that Hopkins was subject to a neutral risk when walking on a public sidewalk during her paid break because this activity was not a regular incident of employment or required by the County. (I AA 88-90.) Hopkins' own testimony shows that she was injured while walking during her break for her own personal enjoyment and recreation. (I AA 131:18-132:3.) The appeals officer therefore correctly concluded that Hopkins failed to prove that her injury arose out of her employment, a necessary requirement under the NIIA. See Cotton, 121 Nev. at 400, 116 P.3d at 58 (requiring a claimant to prove that injury arose out of employment *and* in the course of employment).

While the County was *aware* that its employees walked during break periods, it neither required Hopkins to walk during her break, nor did it require her to walk in the area where she was injured. (I AA 7-9, 132:12-133:19.) Hopkins' contention that the County did not offer its employees an alternative method or means of utilizing their break time such as a walking track or in-house gym is inapposite. (See AOB at 34.) There is no evidence to suggest that walking was the only activity available or permissible for County employees to engage in during paid breaks. Common sense dictates that an employee was free to do as they wished during a paid break from employment, whether that be walking, smoking a cigarette, reading a book, or making a personal telephone call. If, as Hopkins urges, these activities are deemed employment risks when engaged in during a paid break, it would lead to absurd results. An employee's lung cancer could "arise out of" employment if he smoked during paid breaks. An employee burned by spilling hot coffee on herself during a paid break could be compensated for her injuries. Not only would this impose an excessive burden on Nevada's employers, but it is also contrary to the purpose of the NIIA which is designed to "ensure the quick and efficient payment of compensation to injured and disabled employees at a reasonable cost to the employers." NRS 616A.010(1).

B. <u>The Appeals Officer Properly Interpreted NRS 616C.150(1) in</u> <u>Finding Hopkins' Injury Was Not "In the Course of</u> <u>Employment.</u>"

To analyze NRS 616C.150(1)'s requirement that the injury must occur in the course of employment, "Nevada looks to whether the employee is in the employer's control in order to determine whether an employee is acting within the scope of employment when an accident occurs ... off the employer's premises." Cotton, 121 Nev. at 399, 116 P.3d at 58. Here, the appeals officer found that "when the Claimant was walking during her break, she was walking for her own personal enjoyment and health." (I AA 87.) This factual finding should not be disturbed on appeal. Based on this finding, the appeals officer properly concluded that, under Gorsky, Hopkins was not reasonably performing her work duties during her walk and therefore her injury was not in the course of her employment. (I AA 87 (citing Gorsky, 113 Nev. at 604, 939 P.2d at 1046)); see also Holt, 83 Nev. at 500, 434 P.2d at 423 (explaining that "recreational activity should not be deemed within the course of employment unless a regular incident of employment, or required by the employer, or of direct *benefit to the employer* beyond the intangible value of employee health and morale common to all kinds of recreation and social life" (emphasis added)).

The appeals officer's conclusion is supported by substantial evidence that shows that Hopkins chose to walk during her breaks and the County did not require her to do so. (I AA 81-83; I AA 131:15-132:3.) The appeals officer considered the

fact that Hopkins' was on a contractually-mandated break when she was injured. (I AA 86.) It also considered the fact that the County sent an email showing that it was aware some employees chose to walk during their breaks and warning them that some areas near the workplace were unsafe for walking due to construction and the presence of heavy equipment. (I AA 86.) These facts do not undermine the appeals officer's conclusion that Hopkins was not reasonably performing her work duties when she was injured, and that the County did not create an employment-related risk by permitting Hopkins to walk around a public office facility that was open to the public. (I AA 90.) Thus, as the district court found, "a reasonable person could conclude that, under NRS 616C.150(1), [Hopkins] was not in the course of her employment when the injury occurred." (II AA 350.) Applying the same deferential standard of review, this Court should affirm the agency's factual findings and conclusions of law. See Campbell, 109 Nev. at 515, 853 P.2d at 719 (requiring deference where an agency's conclusions of law are closely related to the agency's view of the facts and are supported by substantial evidence).

C. <u>The Appeals Officer's Conclusion That the Exceptions to the</u> <u>"Going and Coming" Rule Do Not Apply Here is Supported by</u> <u>the Applicable Law</u>.

Hopkins further argues the appeals officer erred by finding the activity she engaged in at the time she was injured was "recreational" and therefore did not arise out of and in the course of her employment. (*See* AOB at 17.) As Hopkins observes in her Opening Brief, this Court has held that "injuries sustained by employees while going to or returning from their regular place of work are not deemed to arise out of and in the course of their employment, unless the injuries fall under an exception to the rule." *Cotton*, 121 Nev. at 399, 116 P.3d at 58; (AOB at 18-19.) The overarching purpose of this "going and coming" rule is to "free[] employers from liability for the dangers employees encounter in daily life" when they are beyond the reach of their employer's control. *Id.* at 399-400, 11 P.3d at 58. Hopkins contends that an exception to this "going and coming" rule should apply in her case because her injury occurred during a contractually mandated work break and the County did not prohibit employees from walking during their breaks. (AOB at 20-21.)

Hopkins, however, failed to raise several of these exceptions before the appeals officer or district court below. These arguments must not now be raised on appeal. *Diamond Enterprises, Inc. v. Lau*, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997) ("It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court."); *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (explaining that the Court need not consider a non-jurisdictional issue raised for the first time on appeal). The Opening Brief also fails to provide citations to the record with respect to these arguments, in violation of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. *See* NRAP 28(a)(8) (requiring appropriate reference to the record in appellant's statement of facts); NRAP 28(e)(1) (requiring

that "every assertion in briefs regarding matters in the record shall be supported by a reference to the page and volume number, if any, of the appendix where the matter relied on is to be found").

1. The "Street Risk" Exception.

In support of her position, Hopkins cites this Court's application of the "actual street-risk rule." (AOB at 21-22.) The street-risk exception to the general "going and coming" rule provides

When an employee *is required* to use the streets and highways to carry out his employment obligations, the risks of those streets and highways are thereby converted to risks of employment. If the employee can demonstrate that his injury was occasioned by those risks, his injury will be deemed to have arisen out of the employment.

Bob Allyn Masonry v. Murphy, 124 Nev. 279, 285-86, 183 P.3d 126, 128 (2008) (emphasis added). Hopkins did not raise this argument before the appeals officer or the district court, so it may not be raised now on appeal. Out of an abundance of caution, however, Respondents will address the street-risk exception and why it cannot apply here.

The *Murphy* Court emphasized that "the actual street-risk rule accords with the concept reaffirmed in *Mitchell* that an employee must show a causal connection between his injury and employment risks." *Id.* (citing *Mitchell v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 121 Nev. 179, 182, 111 P.3d 1104, 1106 (2005)). Hopkins argues the "street-risk rule" somehow applies by analogy to her claim because the County did not

provide a break room or other designated places to rest during the break, and therefore she was "required to use the public sidewalks if she chose to walk during her break." (AOB at 22.) Hopkins also cites a document provided to County employees which advised employers to provide a map of walking routes around the office and seek information from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Healthier Worksite Initiative on programs designed to benefit the employer by reducing time lost from work due to illness or disease. (I AA 12.) This document, however, is from Washoe County's public website and is a resource from the Washoe County Health District to provide information to the general public. (Id.) While County employees are encouraged to participate in voluntary activities such as walking during their break times, they are not *required* by the County to do so. Thus, it strains credulity to argue that the principles expressed by the "street-risk rule" should apply in Hopkins' case.

2. The "Employer-Benefit" Exception.

Hopkins further argues her injury falls under the "employer-benefit" exception to the "going and coming" rule because walking during her break conferred a benefit on the County. (AOB at 24.) The employer-benefit exception provides that "recreational activity should not be deemed within the course of employment unless a regular incident of employment, or required by the employer, or of direct benefit to the employer." *Holt*, 83 Nev. at 500, 434 P.2d at 423. Hopkins

21

raises this exception notwithstanding the fact that she was not on a specified errand or special work mission that would trigger the benefits of the exception.

As the district court affirmed, "[t]he employer benefit exception to the rule described in MGM Mirage v. Cotton does not extend to a benefit as far removed as reducing time lost from work due to disease." (II AA 351 (citing Holt, 83 Nev. at 500, 434 P.2d at 423.) Rather, this Court has applied the employer-benefit exception to the "going and coming" rule to, for example, an on-call employee driving his employer's vehicle home for purposes of furthering the employer's business. See Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 110 Nev. 632, 635, 877 P.2d 1032 (1994) (citing Evans v. Sw. Gas Corp., 108 Nev. 1002, 842 P.2d 719 (1992), overruled on other grounds by GES, Inc. v. Corbitt, 117 Nev. 265, 21 P.3d 11 n.6 (2001)). The district court explained that, "[i]n *Tighe*, the employee was an on-call undercover police offer who suffered injuries in an automobile accident while driving home in his employer's vehicle." (II AA 352 (citing Tighe, 110 Nev. at 635, 877 P.2d at 1035)). The Tighe Court found that the employer benefitted from having one of its undercover officers driving an undercover vehicle, and therefore the employee was subject to his employer's control at the time of his accident. Tighe, 110 Nev. at 635, 877 P.2d at 1035.

Similarly, the district court noted that the employer-benefit exception applied in *Evans* because the claimant "was an on-call service technician driving home in his employer's van and was found to be within the course of his employment because he was furthering his employer's business in taking the van home." (II AA 352 (citing *Evans*, 108 Nev. at 1006, 842 P.2d at 721-22).) Here, Hopkins was not on call or performing any work duties when she was injured. While there may have been an incidental benefit to the County in Hopkins maintaining her health by walking on her break, there was no "distinct" benefit within the meaning of the employer-benefit exception to the "going and coming" rule.

Hopkins also raises the argument that the County benefited from not prohibiting Hopkins to walk during her break time because this complied with its contractual obligation to provide break time to employees. (AOB at 24.) Leaving aside the mental gymnastics required to make sense of this contention, Hopkins cannot get around the lack of evidence in the record suggesting that the County required her to go for a walk or even to leave the premises during paid break periods. (*See, e.g.*, II AA 372:15-17 (Hopkins' counsel admitting that it is "certainly true" that the County did not require Hopkins to walk on her breaks).) Therefore, the district court properly found Hopkins was not "in the course of" her employment under the employer-benefit exception to the "going and coming" rule. (II AA 324-325.) This fact-based conclusion of law is entitled to deference on appeal. *Campbell*, 109 Nev. at 515, 853 P.2d at 719.

3. The "Paid Travel" Exception

Hopkins also attempts to shoehorn her injury into another exception to the "going and coming" rule for employees injured while being paid for travel expenses. (*See* AOB at 22-23.) Again, Hopkins did not raise this exception below, and this Court need not consider it now on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc.*, 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. In any event, the "paid travel" exception does not apply here.

In *Crank v. Nevada Industrial Commission*, the claimant was injured in an automobile accident while traveling from his home to a test site where he worked as a rotary drill operator. 100 Nev. 80, 81, 675 P.2d 413, 414 (1984). The Court recognized the exception to the "going and coming" rule "where the employee is paid an identifiable amount as compensation for expense of travel." *Id.* at 82, 675 P.2d at 414. However, the *Crank* Court distinguished *Dixon* and found that the claimant's contract was ambiguous as to whether the subsistence pay was intended to cover travel expenses under the terms of his contract. *Id.* at 84, 675 P.2d at 415. Accordingly, the Court reversed and remanded the case to the district court to remand the matter to the appeals officer for further proceedings related to the meaning of the subsistence pay provision. *Id.* at 84, 675 P.2d at 416.

Here, Hopkins argues that while she was not engaged in "travel," she was being paid by the county while "traveling' in accordance with her contractually mandated break time." (AOB at 23.) However, there is no evidence in the record to

24

suggest that her pay during that break period was "compensation for the expense of travel" as defined by *Crank*. Thus, this exception to the "going and coming" rule cannot apply.

4. The "Parking Lot" Exception

Hopkins also contends that the "parking lot" exception to the general "going and coming" rule applies and thus her injury is "in the course of" her employment. She cites *Cotton*, wherein the Court held that "injuries sustained on the employer's premises while the employee is proceeding to or from work, within a reasonable time, are sufficiently connected with the employment to have occurred 'in the course of employment." (AOB at 24-25 (citing Cotton, 121 Nev. at 400, 116 P.3d at 58.) Here, it is undisputed that Hopkins' injury occurred on a public sidewalk outside the workplace. (AOB at 6; I AA 134:18-135:9.) Yet Hopkins now argues, for the first time on appeal, that parking-lot exception should apply because the County controlled the sidewalks on which Hopkins fell. (AOB at 24.) As discussed in footnote 1, supra, neither the appeals officer nor the district court addressed, and the parties did not litigate, the issue of whether the County had control over or maintained the sidewalk where Hopkins injured herself. Hopkins therefore waived this argument, and this Court should not consider it for the first time on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc., 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983.

Finally, even if this Court concludes that Hopkins was "in the course of" her

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